•	
1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
2	HATTE SOLICE OF THE STATE OF TH	
3 4	CHARLES JESSEPH AND) Case No.: 78480 CHARLES CHURCHWELL,) Electronically File Oct 09 2019 10:2	
5	Appellants, Clerk of Supreme	
6	v.)	
7 8	DIGITAL ALLY, INC.,	
9	Respondent.	
10		
11	APPEAL FROM ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO DISMISS	-
12	THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT	
13	STATE OF NEVADA, CLARK COUNTY HONORABLE ELIZABETH GONZALEZ	
14	HONOKABLE ELIZABETH GONZALEZ	
15	APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF	
16		
17	John P. Aldrich, Esq.	
18	Nevada Bar No.: 6877	
	ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD.	
19	7866 West Sahara Avenue	
20	Las Vegas, Nevada 89117	
21	702-853-5490	
22	Steven J. Purcell, Esq.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final order dismissing the action. The Notice of Entry of the Order Granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim (the "Order") was filed on February 27, 2019. (Joint Appendix ("JA") 0252-55). The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on March 27, 2019. (JA 0256-58). This Court therefore has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRAP 3A(b)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained for the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(11-12) because it raises "as a principal issue a question of first impression involving ... common law," and because it raises "as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance." As the parties and District Court recognized, no Nevada decision expressly controls the precise issue presented here. The case is also presumptively retained under NRAP 17(a)(9) because it originated in business court.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether a Nevada court has discretion under the common law to award attorneys' fees and expenses to stockholders and their counsel for substantial benefits conferred on a corporation and its stockholders resulting from a pre-suit litigation demand that prompted the corporation to acknowledge and fix material defects in its capital structure.

3

5

6 7

8 9

11

10

12 13

15

14

16 17

18

19

20

2122

23

2425

26

2728

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the District Court's Order granting Respondent Digital Ally Inc.'s ("Digital Ally" or the "Company") motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim under NRAP 12(b)(5).

Appellants Charles Jesseph and Charles Churchwell (collectively, the "Stockholders") are former and current stockholders, respectively, of Digital Ally who seek an award of attorneys' fees and expenses under the substantial benefit doctrine. The Stockholders and their counsel identified, and caused Digital Ally to fix, critical and destabilizing defects in its capital structure. Prior to commencing litigation, the Stockholders made a pre-suit litigation demand (the "Demand") on the Company's board of directors (the "Board"). Consistent with the underlying purpose of the pre-suit demand requirement, the Stockholders' Demand rendered litigation unnecessary, as the Board responded by correcting the problems the Stockholders had identified in the Demand by (1) withdrawing an unauthorized class of blank check preferred stock which stockholders had never authorized and the Company had improperly deemed approved, and which stockholders subsequently rejected in a re-vote; and (2) obtaining stockholder ratification of a 167% increase in the Company's authorized shares of common stock, a change previously deemed approved in a vote tainted by incorrect voting instructions the Company issued to its stockholders.

21

2324

25

26

2728

The Stockholders sought reimbursement of their attorneys' fees and expenses from Digital Ally for the substantial benefits obtained through the Demand. The Company rejected the request outright, forcing the Stockholders to file a complaint for fees and expenses on September 28, 2018 (the "Complaint"). (JA 0001-16). On November 13, 2018, Digital Ally moved to dismiss, asserting that that neither statute, court rule, nor the substantial benefit doctrine permitted any attorneys' fees to be awarded to the Stockholders. (JA 0018-26). The motion was fully briefed, and oral argument was held on January 14, 2019. The District Court ruled as follows: "In Nevada the substantial benefit doctrine is limited to litigation matters, at least in the currently decided cases. For that reason I'm going to go ahead and grant the motion." (JA 0248). On February 25, 2019, the District Court signed a form of order submitted by Digital Ally granting the Company's motion to dismiss, referring to its reasoning stated following oral argument and finding that "predicate litigation is an essential element for maintaining a claim for attorney's fees under the substantial benefit doctrine found in Nevada common law." (JA 0251).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Parties

Jesseph owned Digital Ally's common stock from January 2015 until November 2015, and Churchwell has owned the Company's common stock

9

6

14

12

16 17

18

19

2021

22

2324

25

26 27

28

continuously since July 2015. (¶¶ 5-6).¹ Digital Ally is a Nevada corporation and producer of digital video imaging and storage products. (¶ 7).

B. Digital Ally makes unauthorized changes to its capital structure.

The requirements for amending a Nevada company's articles of incorporation are set forth in Section 78.390 of the Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS"). Among other things, amending the articles of incorporation requires a stockholder vote in which a majority of the company's outstanding stock approve the amendment. (¶¶ 11, 28). When corporate matters are submitted for a stockholder vote, brokerage firms that are New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") member organizations are subject to rules that govern their ability to vote shares held on behalf of beneficial holders. Beneficial holders are stockholders who hold their shares in accounts at brokerages such as JPMorgan Chase and E*Trade. Under NYSE Rule 452, a beneficial owner is entitled to instruct the broker how shares held in the beneficial owner's account shall be voted. If the beneficial owner does not provide any instructions, brokers are allowed to vote the shares owned by the beneficial owner only for "routine" matters, such as the ratification of the company's auditor. When a beneficial owner does not provide voting instructions, NYSE Rule 452 expressly prohibits a broker from voting the

¹ All ¶ references are to the Complaint. (JA 0001-16).

9

12 13

14 15

16

17

18 19

20

2122

23

24

25

26

2728

beneficial owner's shares on "non-routine" matters, including any matter that "authorizes or creates a preferred stock or increases the authorized amount of an existing preferred stock." (¶ 23).

In 2015 and 2016, Digital Ally proposed two amendments to its Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles of Incorporation") that would change the Company's capital structure. On April 28, 2015, Digital Ally filed its Schedule 14A Definitive Proxy Statement with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") in connection with the Company's 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "2015 Proxy"). (¶ 25). The 2015 Proxy sought stockholder approval of four proposals, including an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation increasing the amount of Digital Ally common stock from 9,375,000 to 25,000,000 shares (the "Share Increase Amendment"). And on March 21, 2016, Digital Ally filed its Schedule 14A Definitive Proxy Statement with the SEC in connection with the Company's 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "2016 Proxy," and collectively with the 2015 Proxy, the "Proxies"). (¶ 8). The 2016 Proxy sought stockholder approval of five proposals, including an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation creating 10,000,000 shares of a new class of stock known as "blank check preferred stock" (the "Preferred Stock Amendment," and collectively with the Share Increase Amendment, the "Amendments"). (¶ 9). Unlike common stock, which has fixed

rights under the Articles of Incorporation, the creation of blank check preferred stock would give the Board extraordinary discretion to determine, on a "blank check" basis, the voting, dividend, conversion, and other rights to be enjoyed by the holders of this new class of stock.²

The Proxies disclosed the majority vote requirement applicable under NRS 78.390, and explained to stockholders how failing to vote would impact the results. (¶¶ 14, 30). Specifically, with respect to the Amendments, beneficial holders of Digital Ally stock were expressly told that if they did not affirmatively submit voting instructions to their brokers (i.e., voting "for", "against", or to "abstain"), the brokers themselves would not have discretionary authority to vote on the Amendments, thus resulting in a so-called "broker non-vote" for those shares. (¶¶ 15, 31). Accordingly, stockholders were told that they could effectively vote their shares against the Amendments by choosing the simplest option available to them: not voting at all. (¶¶ 15, 31).

Following its 2015 Annual Meeting, the Company filed a Form 8-K with the SEC, disclosing the purported voting results on the Share Increase

² "While [preferred stock] can be used to enable a company to meet changing financial needs, its most important use is to implement poison pills or to prevent takeovers by placement of this stock with friendly investors." See https://www.nasdaq.com/investing/glossary/b/blank-check-preferred-stock (last visited October 2, 2019).

28 | | / / /

///

Amendment proposal. (¶ 32). According to the 8-K, the Share Increase Amendment received the affirmative vote of a majority of the Company's outstanding stock, and Digital Ally's common stock reserve was increased from 9,375,000 to 25,000,000 shares. (¶ 32). After the 2016 Annual Meeting, the Company filed a Form 8-K with the SEC, disclosing the purported voting results on the Preferred Stock Amendment proposal. (¶ 16). According to that 8-K, the Preferred Stock Amendment received the affirmative vote of a majority of the Company's outstanding stock, and on that basis the Company created 10,000,000 shares of a new class of stock. (¶ 16).

However, read carefully, the voting results announced in the 8-K filings revealed that the Company had improperly permitted brokers to vote in favor of the Amendments even when the beneficial owners had not instructed them to do so. (¶¶ 18, 34). Allowing brokers to vote those shares was in direct contravention of the representations made to Digital Ally's stockholders in the Proxies, and with respect to the Preferred Stock Amendment, was also a violation of the NYSE rules. In both cases, these improperly cast broker votes were outcomedeterminative — without them neither Amendment received the necessary votes for approval. (¶¶ 24, 36).

3

5 6 7

8 9

10 11

12 13

14 15

16 17

1.

18 19

20

21 22

23

2425

26

2728

C. The Stockholders make their Demand and the Board takes corrective action.

On May 18, 2017, the Stockholders served their Demand on the Board. (¶ 38). In their Demand, the Stockholders demonstrated that the Amendments were not validly approved, and advised the Board that the Stockholders would commence litigation unless the Board took corrective action. In response, Digital Ally acknowledged that the Demand had identified a problem "regarding the validity" of the stockholder votes on the Amendments. (¶ 41). To address the improper votes, the Company resubmitted the Share Increase proposal for another vote at a Special Meeting of Stockholders on August 14, 2017, and a majority of stockholders ratified the Share Increase Amendment. (¶ 41). With regard to the Preferred Stock Amendment, the Company did not seek a ratification vote and instead announced that this Amendment needed to be rescinded. (¶ 40). The Board then resubmitted the Preferred Stock Amendment to stockholders at the Company's 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. (¶ 44). This time, after the votes were counted properly, it was revealed that a majority of stockholders had not approved the Board's proposal to create blank check preferred stock through the Preferred Stock Amendment. (¶ 44).

The Stockholders' Demand prevented the Company's capital structure from becoming destabilized. Digital Ally was prevented from issuing shares that

had not been properly approved, and was prevented from creating a new class of stock that its stockholders did not want and had not authorized. But for the corrective actions caused by the Stockholders' Demand, all future stockholder votes would have been contaminated. Digital Ally would not know which stockholders were voting invalid shares and which stockholders were entitled to dividends. With respect to the blank check preferred stock that was never authorized in the first place, the Company's recognition of the purported special rights of those stockholders would be wrongful, and any actions taken on the basis of those purported rights – including with respect to voting, the payment of dividends, and other preferences – would be invalid. The Company would become deeply unstable and exposed to myriad claims, including claims for

damages, due to its failed capital structure.

The Stockholders sought to recover their attorneys' fees and expenses from the Company out of court. After Digital Ally refused to negotiate, the Stockholders filed their Complaint, which was dismissed with prejudice by the District Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As the parties and the District Court recognized, no Nevada court has squarely addressed whether the substantial benefit doctrine allows or prohibits an award of attorneys' fees and expenses for the successful prosecution of a

stockholder pre-suit litigation demand. The District Court's conclusion that fees cannot be awarded unless the benefit was obtained through filed litigation is wrong for three main reasons.

First, in *Thomas v. City of North Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 90-91, 127 P.3d 1057, 1063 (2006), this Court identified three elements that must be met before attorneys' fees and expenses can be awarded under the substantial benefit doctrine, and "litigation" is not one of them. According to *Thomas*, filed litigation is not a prerequisite for an award of attorneys' fees and expenses.

Second, prohibiting stockholders and their counsel from recovering attorneys' fees and expenses as compensation for the creation of a substantial benefit unless the stockholder achieved the benefit through filed litigation is fundamentally unsound policy. Delaware law, which Nevada often finds persuasive on undecided matters of corporate law, permits attorneys' fees and expenses to be recovered for successful pre-suit litigation demands as a matter of public policy. As Delaware has recognized, litigation is a means and not an end: when the assertion of a viable claim creates a substantial benefit for a corporation and its stockholders, stockholders are indifferent to whether the benefit was generated by litigation or a pre-suit litigation demand. Digital Ally identifies no contrary policy reason for prohibiting stockholders and their counsel from recovering fees and expenses in this context.

.

Third, even if the Court is prepared to find that "litigation" is a prerequisite for an award of attorneys' fees and expenses, it should find the requirement is met here because a stockholder pre-suit litigation demand is inherently an act of litigation required by statute and court rule as a precondition to bringing a lawsuit. That context clearly distinguishes the situation from *ad hoc* pre-suit communications in non-stockholder matters, thus limiting the substantial benefit doctrine to the specific context in which it arose.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Order granted a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim under NRCP 12(b)(5) and is therefore reviewed de novo. *Dezzani v. Kern & Assocs.*, 412 P.3d 56, 59 (Nev. 2018).

ARGUMENT

A. The Complaint adequately pleaded the elements of the substantial benefit doctrine under existing law.

While parties ordinarily are expected to bear their own attorneys' fees under the so-called "American rule," Nevada recognizes a common law exception to this rule which "allows recovery of attorney fees when a successful party confers 'a substantial benefit on the members of an ascertainable class, and where the court's jurisdiction over the subject matter of the suit makes possible an award that will operate to spread the costs proportionately among them."

Thomas, 122 Nev. at 90-91, 127 P.3d at 1063 (quoting Mills v. Electric Auto-Lite Co., 396 U.S. 375, 393-94 (1970)). Citing federal precedent, the Thomas court established the following three-element test for recovering attorneys' fees and expenses under the substantial benefit doctrine. "To recover fees under the substantial benefit doctrine, a successful party must demonstrate that: (1) the class of beneficiaries is small in number and easily identifiable; (2) the benefit can be traced with some accuracy; and (3) the costs can be shifted with some exactitude to those benefiting." Id. at 91 (ultimately quoting Alyeska Pipeline Co. v. Wilderness Soc'y, 421 U.S. 240, 265 n.39 (1975)) (internal quotations and alteration indications omitted).

The Complaint sufficiently pleaded all three elements of the substantial benefit doctrine articulated in *Thomas*. The District Court did not find otherwise. The first element is satisfied because Digital Ally's stockholders are a sufficiently small and identifiable group, especially when compared to the taxpaying population of North Las Vegas (a city of more than 200,000 people), the group found to meet this element in *Thomas*. Indeed, *Thomas* specifically identified stockholder matters as the archetype for applying the substantial benefit doctrine. 122 Nev. at 91 ("Typically, the substantial benefit exception is applied in cases involving shareholders or unions."). As *Thomas* also explains, the third element is similarly satisfied when, as here, a stockholder confers a

benefit for all of the company's stockholders, because attorneys' fees "assessed against the corporation . . . are easily and equitably spread among the shareholders . . . who are the beneficiaries of the litigation." 122 Nev. at 91.

This leaves only the second element, i.e., the existence of a traceable benefit, which the Stockholders also satisfied. If not for the Stockholders' efforts, the Company's capital structure would have become highly destabilized by the existence and ultimate issuance of 15,625,000 unauthorized new shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares of a new, unauthorized class of preferred stock. The issuance of those shares would have portended disaster and threatened to unravel the Company altogether. All future votes and dividend distributions at the Company would be contaminated. And the special, typically pro-management, rights granted to the new preferred shares would have been unenforceable, and any resulting actions taken in recognition of those purported rights would be invalid. Holders of the new stock and the common stock alike would have damages claims against the Company, and creditors could attempt to declare defaults on outstanding loans.³

³ The repeated lack of support for the Preferred Stock Amendment is not surprising – blank check preferred stock "has been derided by shareholder rights advocates given its potential use as an anti-takeover tactic[.]" See Greenlight Capital, L.P. v. Apple, Inc., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 24716, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 22, 2013); see

A recent Delaware Court of Chancery case recognized the substantial benefits associated with having caused a company to avoid these types of consequences, and awarded attorneys' fees to the responsible stockholder. In re Galena Biopharma, Inc., C.A. No. 0423-JTL (Del. Ch. June 14, 2018) (TRANSCRIPT) ("Galena") (JA 0046-0113), involved, as here, a company that provided false instructions to its stockholders in connection with a vote to authorize a change in the company's capital structure to increase the authorized common stock. As here, the stockholders in Galena were told that brokers could not vote shares held by beneficial owners unless those owners provided voting instructions and brokers then voted those shares anyway. The case was resolved after the parties agreed that the company would have the court validate the company's articles of incorporation, thus eliminating uncertainty about the company's capital structure.4 In approving the settlement, the court recognized

also A Voice in the Boardroom, CORNERSTONE CAPITAL GROUP (July 2016) ("Many shareholders oppose [blank check preferred stock] as failing to align with shareholder interests."), available at https://cornerstonecapinc.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/A-Voice-in-the-Boardroom_July-2016.pdf (last visited October 2, 2019).

⁴ Delaware courts can validate otherwise defective corporate acts and documents under 8 *Del. C.* § 205. Highlighting the sorts of problems that were avoided here because the Stockholders acted promptly, in *Galena* the company had intended to ask stockholders to ratify the articles of incorporation amendments at a special meeting, but was unable to do so because unauthorized shares had already been

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