IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHARLES JESSEPH; AND CHARLES CURCHWELL, Appellants, SUPREME COURT NO. 78480 District Court Case Electronically Filed Nov 22 2019 01:37 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

DIGITAL ALLY, INC., Respondent.

RESPONDENT DIGITAL ALLY, INC.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ASHCRAFT & BARR | LLP

<u>/s/ Jeffrey F. Barr, Esq.</u> JEFFREY F. BARR, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 7269 2300 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 900 Las Vegas, NV 89102 Telephone: (702) 631-7555 <u>barrj@ashcraftbarr.com</u> *Attorneys for Respondent*

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this case, the Shareholders claim that their attorneys' solitary letter conferred a benefit on Digital Ally and that without any underlying litigation, Nevada's iteration of the substantial benefit doctrine justifies an award of \$250,000 of attorney's fees.

It does not. The Shareholders' claim fails on three grounds.

First, "Attorney's Fees" are not a cognizable claim for relief in Nevada for two reasons: Preliminarily, Nevada courts lack subject matter jurisdiction to entertain an independent claim for attorney's fees. Next, this Court has repeatedly rejected an autonomous cause of action for attorney's fees. Nevada simply does not recognize a claim for attorney's fees divorced from an actionable right.

Second, the Shareholders misapply the substantial benefit doctrine. Underlying litigation is an existential prerequisite to awarding attorney's fees under the substantial benefit doctrine. Here, it is undisputed that the Shareholders filed no underlying litigation. The Shareholders, instead, wrongly claim that the district court can award them attorney's fees solely for their letter writing. But no State in the United States has adopted the Shareholders' broad reading of the substantial benefit doctrine. Thus, the District Court was correct in holding that "predicate litigation is an essential element to maintaining a claim for attorney's fees under the substantial benefit doctrine found in Nevada common law...." [JA0251.] Third, serious public policy considerations militate against the expansive reading of the substantial benefit doctrine urged by the Shareholders.

In conclusion, this Court should affirm the District Court's Order.

ARGUMENT

I. "ATTORNEY'S FEES" ARE NOT A COGNIZABLE CLAIM¹

Implicitly in this case, the Shareholders seek to create a new claim for relief called, "Attorney's Fees." But the Shareholders fundamentally misconstrue the nature of attorney's fees. Attorney's fees are a remedy, not a right of action. *See generally*, Dan B. Dobbs & Caprice L. Roberts, *Law of Remedies* §§ 3.10(1)-(2) (3d ed. 2017).² Because an award of attorney's fees is a remedy, Nevada law does not recognize this claim as an autonomous cause of action.

NRS 18.010(2), NRS 41.520(4)(b), and NRS 78.257(5)(a) use the apostrophe-*s* formulation; this Answering Brief will adhere to this convention.

¹ The placement of the apostrophe in the phrase "attorney's fees" (or whether to use an apostrophe at all) is "a matter of heated controversy." *Synanon Found., Inc. v. Bernstein*, 517 A.2d 28, 30 n.2 (D.C. 1986); *see also, Niccum v. Enquist*, 286 P.3d 966, 968 n.2 (Wash. 2012). This Court uses all three formulations. *See e.g., Patush v. Las Vegas Bistro, LLC*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 46, 449 P.3d 467, 470 (2019) ("attorney fees"); *Schouweiler v. Yancey Co.*, 101 Nev. 827, 829, 712 P.2d 786, 788 (1985) ("attorney's fees"); and *Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 348, 455 P.2d 31, 32 (1969) ("attorneys' fees").

² As a form of relief, a Nevada court may award attorney's fees under one of three theories:

Under a taxable "cost of litigation" theory awarded by statute, rule, or contract. See Sandy Valley Assocs. v. Sky Ranch Estates Owners Ass'n, 117 Nev. 948, 956, 35 P.3d 964, 969 (2001) receded from on other grounds by Horgan v.

Dismissal under NRCP 12(b)(5) is appropriate where a complaint asserts no cognizable cause of action. *See e.g.*, *Mills v. Cont'l Parking Corp.*, 86 Nev. 724, 726, 475 P.2d 673, 674 (1970) (affirming NRCP 12(b)(5) dismissal of complaint where Nevada did not recognize cause of action for negligent entrustment in bailor-bailee relationship).

In this case, the Shareholder's sole claim of "Attorney's Fees" is not a legally cognizable cause of action in Nevada for two reasons: (A) First, Nevada law grants no subject matter jurisdiction over an independent claim for attorney's fees; and (B) Secondly, Nevada has previously rejected a cause of action called, "Attorney's Fees," and the Court should likewise decline to create one in this case. As such, the District Court's Order dismissing this case was proper, and this Court should affirm the dismissal.

A. NEVADA COURTS HAVE NO SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER AN INDEPENDENT ATTORNEY'S FEES CLAIM

As a matter of law, Nevada courts have no subject matter jurisdiction over an autonomous cause of action called "Attorney's Fees." In general, a district court has subject matter jurisdiction only where the amount in controversy exceeds \$15,000.

Felton, 123 Nev. 577, 170 P.3d 982 (2007) and *Liu v. Christopher Homes*, *LLC*, 130 Nev. 147, 321 P.3d 875 (2014);

⁽²⁾ Under a "special damages" theory pursuant to NRCP 9(g). Id.;

⁽³⁾ As a sanction for deliberate misconduct. *E.g.*, NRS 7.085; NRCP 11(c)(4); NRCP 37(a)(5)(A); and NRAP 38(b).

Nev. Const. Art. 6, § 6; NRS 4.370(1)(b). For subject matter jurisdiction purposes, the calculation of the amount in controversy excludes attorney's fees. *See Royal Ins. v. Eagle Valley Constr.*, 110 Nev. 119, 120, 867 P.2d 1146, 1147 (1994); *see also, Knight v. Knight*, 207 F.3d 1115, 1117 (9th Cir. 2000) (holding that "fee shifting provisions cannot themselves confer [Federal] subject matter jurisdiction that is otherwise absent" (internal quotations and citations omitted)). Thus, where the amount in controversy exclusive of attorney's fees is less than \$15,000, the district court lacks subject matter jurisdiction.

Here, the Shareholders' sole claim is for attorney's fees. [JA0014-15.] The Shareholders assert no other amount in controversy. Because they claim no other amount in controversy, and because attorney's fees are not part of the calculus for subject matter jurisdiction, the District Court in this case had no subject matter jurisdiction over the Shareholders' alleged claim.³ Thus, the exclusion of attorney's fees in the amount in controversy calculation for subject matter jurisdiction indicates that Nevada law recognizes no cause of action called "Attorney's Fees." This lack of subject matter jurisdiction, alone, is enough for the Court to affirm the District Court's Order.

³ The issue of "whether a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction can be raised by the parties at any time, or sua sponte by a court of review, and cannot be conferred by the parties." *Landreth v. Malik*, 127 Nev. 175, 179, 251 P.3d 163, 166 (2011) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

B. NEVADA REJECTS ATTORNEY'S FEES AS A SEPARATE CLAIM

Assuming that the Shareholders successfully prove subject matter jurisdiction, Nevada law has consistently refused to recognize an independent cause of action for "attorney's fees." *See Guild, Hagen & Clark, Ltd. v. First Nat'l Bank,* 95 Nev. 621, 623, 600 P.2d 238, 239 (1979); *Las Vegas v. Sw. Gas Corp.,* 90 Nev. 178, 180, 521 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1974); and *Consumers League v. Sw. Gas Corp.,* 94 Nev. 153, 157-58, 576 P.2d 737, 740 (1978). This, too, is reason enough to affirm the District Court's Order.

In *Guild*, for example, this Court rejected a law firm's independent lawsuit for attorney's fees for benefits allegedly conferred on an estate in a previous a probate matter. *Guild*, 95 Nev. at 623. In the probate matter, the law firm represented a decedent's daughter who contested the decedent's assignment of certain monies. *Id.* at 622. The probate court invalidated the assignment but held that the daughter had not demonstrated that she was entitled to the money and ordered the money to be paid to the decedent's estate. *Id.* Subsequent to the probate action, the law firm filed its own separate complaint against the estate claiming that the firm's representation of the daughter ultimately benefitted the estate and that the estate thus owed the firm attorney's fees under both the "common fund" and the "substantial benefit doctrine" theories. *Id.* at 623. The *Guild* Court rejected both theories and ultimately affirmed the district court's order granting summary judgment. *Id.* at 624.

Likewise, in *Las Vegas*, this Court affirmed the district court's dismissal of a complaint where the sole claim for relief was a claim for attorney's fees. *Las Vegas*, 90 Nev. at 180. The claimant in *Las Vegas* was a successful intervenor in an administrative proceeding involving a utility rate increase and filed a subsequent claim in the district court seeking to recover attorney's fees for its success. *Id.* at 179. The *Las Vegas* Court refused to recognize an independent action for attorney's fees. *Id.* at 180.

Similarly, in *Consumers League*, the Court again affirmed the district court's dismissal of an independent claim for attorney's fees by a claimant who successfully procured a substantial refund to ratepayers in another administrative hearing. *See Consumers League*, 94 Nev. 157-58. The claimant subsequently sued in the district court to recover attorney's fees in the administrative action, and the *Consumers League* Court rejected both the "common fund" and the "substantial benefit doctrine" theories espoused by the claimant, holding that Nevada law provided no cognizable cause of action for attorney's fees. *See id*.

Here, like the claimants in *Guild*, *Las Vegas*, and *Consumers League*, the Shareholders also assert that they have conferred a "fundamental and substantial benefit on the Company's stockholders" and that this purportedly substantial benefit forms the basis their sole claim for relief: attorney's fees. [JA0014-15.] But the Shareholders allege no wrong-doing that would give rise to an award of attorney's

fees in the first place. Thus, the Shareholders' autonomous attorney's fees claim here amounts to a solution searching for a non-existent problem—a remedy detached from any right. As did the *Guild*, *Las Vegas*, and *Consumers League* Courts, this Court should likewise reject the Shareholders' implicit request for the Court to create a new caused of action called, "Attorney's Fees."⁴

In conclusion, the Shareholders fundamentally misapprehend the nature of attorney's fees. Awarding attorney's fees is a remedy, not an independently actionable right. Nevada law grants no subject matter jurisdiction to the courts to entertain an autonomous cause of action for attorney's fees. It recognizes no claim for attorney's fees divorced from a suit giving rise to such an award. Because this claim is not cognizable in Nevada, the District Court was correct to dismiss the Complaint. The Court should affirm the District Court's Order.

II. THE SHAREHOLDERS MISAPPLY THE SUBSTANTIAL BENEFIT DOCTRINE

Assuming that the Shareholders prove that Nevada recognizes an independent claim for relief called "Attorney's Fees," their claim under the substantial benefit

⁴ While this Court has the inherent power to create a new cause of action, it will "construe such power narrowly and exercise it cautiously." *Badillo v. Am. Brands*, 117 Nev. 34, 42, 16 P.3d 435, 440 (2001). "Altering common law rights, creating new causes of action, and providing new remedies for wrongs is generally a legislative, not a judicial, function." *Id*; *see also, Consumers League*, 94 Nev. at 158 (Gunderson J., concurring) (concurring opinion specifically to exhort Legislature to provide for attorney's fees).

doctrine still fails. Because the Shareholders misunderstand the nature of a claim for attorney's fees, they concomitantly misapply the "substantial benefit doctrine." Their argument fails for two reasons: (A) First, litigation is a prerequisite to invoking the substantial benefit doctrine, and the District Court did not add an "element" to the doctrine; and (B) No State has adopted the reading of the substantial benefit doctrine urged by the Shareholders. For the reasons detailed below, the District Court correctly held that "litigation is an essential element to maintaining a claim for attorney's fees under the substantial benefit doctrine...." [JA0251.] Because there was no underlying litigation, there could be no award of attorney's fees; thus, the substantial benefit doctrine simply does not apply. In short, the Court should affirm the District Court's Order.

A. LITIGATION IS A PREDICATE TO THE SUBSTANTIAL BENEFIT DOCTRINE

Nevada follows the American rule that a party to litigation cannot recover attorney's fees absent a statute, rule, or contract authorizing the award. *See Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 90, 127 P.3d 1057, 1063 (2006) and *Guild, Hagen & Clark, Ltd. v. First Nat'l Bank*, 95 Nev. 621, 622, 600 P.2d 238, 239 (1979) (holding "in the absence of a statute or contract authorizing such an award, attorney's fees may not be recovered by a party to litigation") (emphasis added); *see also, Sun Realty v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 91 Nev. 774, 776, 542 P.2d 1072, 1073 (1975) (holding that Nevada courts have no "inherent power" to award attorney's fees).

The American rule does have exceptions. *E.g.*, NRS 18.010. The exception at issue in this case is the judicially-created "substantial benefit doctrine." *Thomas*, 122 Nev. at 90-91. The substantial benefit doctrine invokes the court's equitable powers to award attorney's fees to a prevailing party whose litigation confers a substantial benefit on an ascertainable class. *Id.* at 91 (internal quotations and citations omitted). The doctrine tells a court when it may equitably spread the costs of a lawsuit to class members who have benefited from the action, specifically "where a plaintiff has successfully <u>maintained a suit</u>, usually on behalf of a class, that benefits a group of others in the same manner as himself." *Mills v. Electric Auto-Lite Co.*, 396 U.S. 375, 392 (1970) (emphasis added) *cited with approval in Thomas*, 122 Nev. at 91 n.12.

The two, seminal cases on the substantial benefit doctrine in Nevada agree: Prevailing in <u>litigation</u> is the predicate act to invoking the substantial benefit doctrine. *See Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 91, 127 P.3d 1057, 1063 (2006); and *Guild, Hagen & Clark, Ltd. v. First Nat'l Bank*, 95 Nev. 621, 624, 600 P.2d 238, 240 (1979).

For example, the *Thomas* Court described the substantial benefit doctrine thusly: "This doctrine allows recovery of attorney fees when a successful party confers a substantial benefit on the members of an ascertainable class, <u>and where the</u> <u>court's jurisdiction over the subject matter of the suit</u> makes possible an award that will operate to spread the costs proportionately among them." *Thomas*, 122 Nev. at 91 (emphasis added; internal quotations and citations omitted). The *Thomas* Court added that courts apply the substantial benefit doctrine in cases involving shareholders, "who are beneficiaries of the <u>litigation</u>." *Id*.

The *Guild* Court also concurs that litigation is a predicate act to invoking the substantial benefit doctrine, specifically stating, "The 'substantial benefit' doctrine applies when the defendant in a class action or corporate derivative suit receives some benefit <u>as a result of the action</u>." *Guild*, 95 Nev. at 624 (emphasis added).

Moreover, a federal district court in Michigan recently rejected a claim for attorney's fees under similar facts as the Shareholders here. *See Willner v. Syntel*, 256 F. Supp. 3d 684, 696 (E.D. Mich. 2017). In *Willner*, a plaintiff wrote a demand letter, the corporation complied, and the plaintiff subsequently filed suit, claiming his counsel was entitled to attorney's fees for the substantial benefit conferred on the corporation. *Id.* at 686. In granting the defendant's motion to dismiss under Michigan law, the court found that the plaintiff was "not entitled an award of attorney fees because the benefit that he claims to have conferred did not result from litigation." *Id.* at 696.

Here, the Shareholders assert that the District Court should award them attorney's fees under the substantial benefit doctrine solely because their demand letter allegedly caused Digital Ally to take corrective action. [JA0014-15.] But the Shareholders have not initiated or prevailed in any litigation. In fact, the Shareholders have not even initiated litigation. [Opening Brief, pp. 9-10.] Because the Shareholders have not maintained a lawsuit, the substantial benefit doctrine simply does not apply. Like the letter-writing plaintiff in *Willner*, the benefit allegedly conferred here was not result from any litigation, as correctly identified by the District Court's Order.

Contrary to the Shareholders' misapplication, the doctrine is not an independent source of redress; rather the doctrine is an equitable procedure to distribute the <u>costs of litigation</u> to those who have benefitted from the <u>lawsuit</u>. Thus, the District Court's legal conclusion that "predicate litigation is an essential element to maintaining a claim for attorney's fees under the substantial benefit doctrine..." is correct, and this Court should affirm it.

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